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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Koy 28 o |
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463
November 28, 2000

MEMORANDUM
TC: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFHDIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASCN TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file
or timely file the 2000 October Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
September 21, 2000, Prior Notice was sent t0 all political committees and their treasurers,
informing them that the 2000 October Quarterly Report was due on October 15, 2000.
The report should cover from July 1, 2000 (or the closing date of the last report filed)
through September 30, 2000.

The committees appearing on the first list (not election-sensitive) either filed the
report more than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a non-filed report). The
committees appearing on the second list (election-sensitive) either filed the report more
than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or failed to file the report
prior to four (4) days before the general election (considered a non-filed report), In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 CFR 111.43, these
committees should be assessed the civil money penalties inciuded on the attached lists.
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Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers
listed on the RTB Circulation Reports

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Reports.

()

(3) Send the appropriate letters.

)
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

ITIVE

'DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, Movember 28, 2000 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, December 01, 2000 4:00

: COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Reason To Believe Recommendation 2000 October
Quarterly Report For The Administrative Fines Program.

() | approve the recommendatior(s)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

Iy

“w. -

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

LY 2
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )
)
Reason to Believe Recommendation) Agenda Document No. X00-87
2000 October Quarterly Report )
for the Administrative Fines
Program:

the 2000 Republican National
Convention and Alec Poitevint,

}
)
)
Committee on Arrangements for ) AF #177
)
)
as treasurer )

CERTIFICATION

I, Darlene Harris, recording secretary for the Federal
Election Commigsion executive session on December 12, 2000,
do hereby certify that the Commission decided by a vote
of 6-0 to find reason to believe that the Committee on
Arrangements for the 2000 Republican Natiomal Convention
and Alec Poitevint, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C.

§ 434 (a), as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's
memorandum dated November 28, 2000, make a preliminary
determinatiocn that the civil money penalty would be the
amouni indicated on the non election-gensitive f£ine schedule,

and send the appropriate letter.

{continued)
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Federal Election Commission Page 2
Certification for AF #177
December 12, 2000

Commizsioners Mason, ¥McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attesgt:

Borfens.

7 Date ~ Darlene Harzis
Acting Deputy Secretary
of the Commission



WESTERN UNION COHMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF CHMGH TOzALEC POITEVINT
CHTE QN ARRNGHNTS FOR 2000 REP NATL CONV
228 S WASHINGTOM S¥ STE 200
ALEXANDRIA VA 22314~5404

FEDERAL ELECTIDN COMHISSION
LEAH PALMER

{ 999 E ST NH # 709

oy WASHINGTON DC 20663
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DECEHBER 14 2000

g
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i ALEC POITEVINT

- CATE ON ARRNGHNTS FOR 2000 REP NATL CONY
& 228 S WASHINGTON ST STE 200

= ALEXANDRIA VA 22314

o c00333088

id AFg: 177

DEAR ALEC POITEVINT:

THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGHN ACT OF 1971e AS AMENDED {VTHE
ACT®), REQUIRES THAY YOUR COMMITTEE FILE AN OCTOBER QUARYERLY REPORT
GF RECEIPYS AND DISBURSEMENTS IN A CALENDAR YEAR IN HWHICH A
REGULARLY SCHEDULED GENERAL ELECTIUON IS HELD. THIS REPORT, COVERING
THE PERIOD THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30THy SHALL BE FILED NO LATER THAN
OCTOBER 15THo 2 UoSaele £34{Ad. YOU WHERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED OF THE
DUE DATE FOR THIS REPORT. RECORDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE THAT
THIS REPORT WAS NOT FILED WITHIN THIRTY {30) DAYS OF THE DUE DATE.
YOU SHOULD FILE THE OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORTY IF¥ YOU HAVE NOT ALREADY
DONE S0.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1999 TO PERWMIT THE FEDERAL
ELECTION COMMISSION (9THE COHMISSION®™] TO IMPOSE CIVIL HONEY
PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF 2 UeSoele
£34{A%s 2 UoSeCo 43TGLAII43- ON 1271272000, THE COMMISSION FOUND
THAT THERE 1S REASON TO BELJIEYE (TRTB®) THAT CMTE ON ARRNGMNTS FOR
2000 REP NATL CONV AND YDU:; AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UsSe.Co 4340AD
8Y FAILING TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPORT ON OR BEFORE OLTOBER 15TH.
BASED DN THE COMMISSION®S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES AT 11
CFR 111.43, THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB
1S 8650000, IT IS DUE BY 01/2172001 AND IS BASED ON THESE FACTORS:

FLECTION SENSITIVIYY OF REPORY: NOTV ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY®: $225971

NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED

NUMBER OF PREVIOQUS CIVIL MDNEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: 0

#IF THE REPORT HAS MNOT RECEIVEDe THE LEVEL OF ACTIVITY WAS ESTIMATED
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"WESTERN UMION COMMERCIAL SERVEICES

USING TOTAL RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS FOR THE CURRENT 2-YEAR
ELECTION CYCLE (OR PRIOR CYCLEy IF NO REPORTS WERE FILED THIS CYCLE)D
DIVIDED BY THE NUMBER OF REPORTS FILED.

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PEMALTY

70 PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PEMALTY, SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENMT TO THE COMMISSION AT THE ADORESS ON PAGE
3. UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU A
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RT8 FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING ANDZOR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PEMNALTY. YOU HMUST SUBHIT A HRITTEN RESPONSE TO THE COMMISSION®S
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWs 999 E STREET: NW, WASHINGTONs OC
20463. YOUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED BY 01/21/2001i. YOUR WRITTEN
RESPONSE RUSY INCLUDE THE REASONES) HWHY YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTS
FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL WMOMEY PEMALTY. THE COMMISSION WILL
OMLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A FACYUAL ERROR»
MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULAYTED CIVIL HMONEY PENALTY 8Y THE
COHMISSIONe DR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FOR MORE THAN 48 HOURS THAT HERE BEVOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE RCPORT 1IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOQUR
RESPONSE WUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORYING THE REASONIS)H AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATIDN, THE COMMNISSION STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAT
DOCUKMENTS BE SUBMITTED IN THE FORK OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIONS.
EXTRADRDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WiLL NOY 8E CONSIDERED INCLUDE, BUT
ARE NOT LIMITED YO, NEGLIGENCE, PROBLEKS WITH YENDORS OR
CONTRACTORSe STAFF ILLNESS, COMPUTER FAILURES AND SINMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCES. 11 CFR 111.35{BMU12{(JFII} AND (4).

IF YOU INTEND TO BE REPRESENVED BY COUNSEL, PLEASE ADVISE THE
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW. YOU SHOULD PROVIDEs IN WRITINGe
THE NAHMEs; ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHDRIZE
COUNSEL TO RECEIVE WNOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TD THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL HONEY PENALTY DR 3SUBMIT A
WHRITTEN RESPONSE, THE COMMISSION HWILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING
FACTUAL ALLEGATIDNS ARE TRUE AMD WMAKE A FINAL DETERRMINATION THAT
CHTE ON ARRNGHMNTS FOR 2000 REP NATL CONY AND YQU, AS TREASURER,
VIOLATED 2 UoSeCe 534(A) AND ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL HMONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS 4iLl BE SUBJECTY YD THE DEBT COLLECTION ACY DOF
1932(9DCA™IAS AMENDED BY THE DESBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF
1998 31 UoScfe 370) ET S5EQ. THE CORMISSION MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED 8Y THE DLAe AS AMENDED,
INCLUDING TRANSFER TD THE UoS5S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTION. 1f CFR 111-43.

THIS MATTER 4WAS GENERATED BASED ON INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE COMMISSION IN THE NORHMAL COURSE OF CARRYING QUT TS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIES:e 2 UoSelo 4£375IA3I2%. IV WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORDANCE HITH 2 UeSoCoe 437GIAN{43(83 AND &437GLAR{223{A} UNLESS
YOU NOTIFY THE CORMISSION IN HRITING THAT VYOU WISH THE MATTER ¥0 BE




WESTERN UN

HADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE COMMISSION®S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAM, INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIDMSe IS LOCATED AT THE
COMMISSION®S WEBSITE AT WWH.FEC.GOVo IF YOU HAVE QUESTVIONS
REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE CALTULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE
CONTAC MARY E. SEILER IN THE REPORTS AMALYSIS DIVISION AY OUR TOLL
FREE NUMBER (8003424~9530 {(PRESS 1, THEN PRESS 2} OR (2021694-1130.
IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE SUBHMISSION OF A CHALLENGE,
PLEASE CONTACT THE OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT OUR TOLL FREE
NUMBER (80D)424-9530 {PRESS Op THEN EXT. 1660) DR {202716946~1660.

SINCERELYs

DARRYL WOLD
CHAIRMAN

% L4 *® ] & % i E-] ] - ® % * *
ADHINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE HWITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 111.43,
THE AMOUNTY OF YDUR CIVIiL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT R78 IS
$6500.00 FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT.
PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITYANCE WITH A CHECK OR MONEY ORDER MADE
PAYABLE TO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION TD THE FDLLOWING ADDRESS:
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
P.0- BDX 952182
5T LOUISe MO &3195-2182

IF YOU CHOOSE TO SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AMND PAYMENT BY COURIER OR
OVERNIGHT DELIVERYs PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
FIRSTAR - GOVERNMENT LOCKBOX
FEC 2952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
5T« LOUISs HO 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND VOUR PAYMENT ARE DUE BY 01/21/2001. UPON
RECEIPYT OF YDUR REMITTANCE AND PAVHENT; THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU
A FINAL OETERMINATION LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURM THE PORTION BELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

A A A LD M Y A Ay AR W A AT D WD S e o A W R Gl S TR e D e M D S i el e e T T Y i T el ADH ) R i e O Py i A OB

FOR: CWMTE ON ARRNGHMNTS FOR 2000 REP MATL CONV
FEC 108: (00333088

AFB: 177

PAYMENT DUE DATE:s 0172172001

PAYHENT AMOUNT DUE: $6500.00

MMERCIAL SERVICES
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION o

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

March 27, 2001

MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFf DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY AND NOVEMBER MONTHLY REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers which the
Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000 October
Quarterly and November Monthly Reports. The first list represents committees that have
paid the civil money penalty and the second list represents thosc that have not paid. The
committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the

RTB notification to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 CFR 111,34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Commission shatl send
a final determination notice to those respondents that have cither paid or not paid the civil
money penalty.

committees have filed their reports after the RTB finding. The actual level of
activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that

assessed at RTB.
The commitices

arc:



o Committee to Elect Kevin McKeigue for US Senate

AF #140

5}

fﬁi None of the committees listed above have paid the civil money penalty. The actual
level of activity and receipt date of the rteports, as well as the revised civil money

:;j penalties, are reflected on the attached “not paid” circulation report.

ﬁ“z additional committees filed the report after the RTB finding and disclosed

£ levels of activity that would have resulted in higher civil money penalties had the reports

& been filed prior to the RTB stage. However, the internal procedures adopted by the

yf? Commission on March 20, 2001 only allows for approval of a lower civil money penalty

Y at the final determination stage if the report discloses an actual level of activity which is

less than the estimate on which the RTB civil money penalty was based. Therefore, the

civil money penalty that is recommended at the final determination stage for the
following committees is the same amount that was approved at the RTB stage:

e Eva Clayton Committee for Congress (AF #148)
RTB fine based on estimated level of activity: $4,000
Actual level of activity fine: 55,000
(The $4,000 finc has been paid by the Committee)
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political commiutees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463 '

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Wednesday, March 28, 2001 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, Aprii 02, 2001 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SURJECT: Administrative Fines Finai Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly

Reports.
{) i approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Piease retumn
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above. '

DATE: SIGNATURE"

FROM THE OEFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Rdministrative Fines Final
Determination Recommendation For The
2000 October Quarterly And November
Monthly Reports

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU ) AFH# 97

as treasurer; )

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and } AF# 100

MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer; )

JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and ) AF# 102

RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer; )

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M ) AF# 107
)

VACCARO JR as treasurer;
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Federal Election Commission Page 2
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

COMMITTEE TQO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR AF# 140
US SENATE, and XKEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E
RAFER as treasurer;

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, 2nd CHARLES H

REEVES IIX1 as treasurer;

AF$ 143

AF# 145

L . L W N

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS, } AFH# 148
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer; )

E+«TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC), AF# 150
and MICHAEIL CHOCHON as treasurer;
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTICHN COMMITTEE AAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
ag treasurer;

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON
ag treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON ag treasurer;

AF# 151

AF# 152

AF# 153

L N N . g S

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HQLIDAY INNS INC AF# 156
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIOMAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and

GECRGE W REILLY as treasurer;

AF# 158

AF# 159

N . i i L e

AF# 154 -
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurer;

VIACOM INTERWNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer;

MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE asz treasurer;

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer;

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer;

COMMITTEE ON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000
REPUBLICAN NATION CONVENTION, and ALEC
POITEVINT as treasurer;

BILL BRADLEY FOR PRESIDENT INC, and
THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer;

Page

AF# 162

AF# 164

AF# 165

AF# 166

AF# 168

AF# 172

AF# 177

AF# 237

3
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Federal Election Commission Page 4
Certification for Adminigtrative Fines
April 02, 2001

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal

Election Commission, do hereby certify that
on April 2, 2001 the Commission took the following
actions on the Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly
Report in the Administrative Fines Program, as
recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001, on the following

committees:

AF# 97;: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS,
and JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.



Federal Election Commission Page 5
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS
. / 2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated
5 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

0
W

e e BuE

+

i

&=

i

iwd
3

! AF# 102: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
. final determination that the JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
fi COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, Mchonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 6~0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TOM FOLEY FOR US -
SENATE, and FRANK M VACCARC JR as treasurer,

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a c¢ivil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Federal Election Commission Page 8

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

AF# 140: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE TO ELECT
KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and XEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil monszy penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

AF# 143: Decided by a wvote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
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final determination that the HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS,
and BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisgion.

AFH# 145: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MEEKS FOR CONGRESS
2000, and CHARLES H REEVES III as treasurer,
viclated 2 U.5.C. 434{a) and asgess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE
FOR COHNHGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a c¢ivil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriata letter.
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Certification foxr Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas,
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and Wold voted affirmatively for the decisgion.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(ExTRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assgess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
£inal determination that the AMERICAN ACADEMY OF -
EMERGENCY MEDICINE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM
PAC, and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;{(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomaz, and Wold wvoted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH§ 152: Decided by a vote of . 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,



Federal Election Commission Page 11
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

2001: {2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDenald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CINCINNATI BELL INC
FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W
PETERSON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;{(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF§# 154: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
f£inal determination that the CITIZENS FOR THE
REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF
HOLIDAY INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
JAMES P MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
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the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001:(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AFP# 158: Decided by a veote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
agssess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Divisioen's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH# 159: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO
1 NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTERE, and GEORGE W
REILLY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter. -
Commisgioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.
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AF# 162: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TACO POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, vioclated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 164; Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the VIACOM INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 165: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, wiolated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports -
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, Mcbonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decisiomn.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MACOMB COUNTY
DEMOCRAYIC COMMITTER, and NANCY FALCORE as
treagurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in-the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WEST VIRGINIA
REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commicsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomasg, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF§# 172: Dacided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PECO ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA
ELECTRIC COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
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Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 177: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE ON
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBLICAN NATION
CONVENTION, and ALEC PCITEVINT as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

- -

AF# 237: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make 2
final determination that the BILL BRADLEY FOR
PRESIDENT INC, and THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
8andstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Date

Received in the Secretariat:

Circulated to the Commission:

Deadline for wvote:

&
g

Attest:

UL

j), - Jo-€_
Mary W;750Gg

Secret#ry of the Commission

Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 12:34 p.m.
Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 4:00 p.m.
Mon., apr. 02, 2001 4:00 p.m.
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HESTERN UNIONM COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF MATLGRANM TOsALEL POITEVINT
CMTE ON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBL
228 S HWASHINGTON ST STE 200
ALEXANDRIA VA 22314-5404

FEDERAL ELECTION COHMISSIOM
LEAH PALMER

999 B ST NW & 709
HASHINGTON DC 20463

APRIL 4 2001

ALESC POITEVINT

CMTE OM ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBL
223 S AASHINGTION 35T STZ 200

ALZXANDRIA VA 22314

£00333081
AF%: 177

DEZAR ALEC POITEVINT:

ON 1271272003, THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION {®THE
CIMMISSIANT™) FOUND REASON 1D BELIEVE (¥RTB™) THAT CHMTE ON
APRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBL AMND YOUs» AS TREASURER, VIOLATED 2
UsSelo 4346{AY FOR FILING LATE OR FAILING TO FILE THE 2000 OCTOBER
AUARTERLY REPORT. BY MAILGRAM DATED 1271472000, THE COMMISSION SENT
YOU NOTIFICATION OF THE RTS8 FINDING THAT INCLUBED & CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY CALCULATED AT RT3 0OF $56500.00 IN ACCORDANLCE WITH THE
SCHEDJULE OF PEMALTIES AT 11 CoFePe 1lle%3s

ON 0172272001, THE COMBISSION RECEIVED PAYMENT OF YOUR CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RT8, THEREFORE, THE COMMISSION MADE A
FINAL DETERMINATION ON 0470272001 THAT YQUes AS TREASURERy AND CHYE
ON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 20C0 REPUBL VIDLATED 2 UeSele 434LAle
ASSES3IED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY [N THE AMOUNT OF $36500.00 IN
ACCORISKCE WITH 11 CoFaPe 1110.43y AND VOTED TO LLOSE THE FILE.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS AT 2 UaSels 437G1A30120 NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS NOW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PART OF
THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT TGO 11 CoFoeRoe 1110%42(B)o ALTHOUGH THE
COMPLETE FILE MUST B8F PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY (305
DAYS FROM THE OATE GF THE (OMMISSION®S NOTIFICATION. THIS COULD OCCUR
AT ANYTIMZT FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE COMMISSION®S VYOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTER, PLEASE CONTACY
JOHN Go MUCKLE 0N QUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530 (PRESS 1o THEN
PRESS 2) OR (20216%4-1130,

SINCERELY,

DANNY LEE MCDONALD
CHAIRMAN
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THIS IS THE END GF AD}%?I?NSTRATIVE FINE CASE
#

DATE FILMED [ol CAMERANO. Y

CAMERAMAN 2&§
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